1951

Joseph Gerald Macdonald v. Vera Catherine Macdonald : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from a Decree of the Third Judicial District Court of the State of Utah, in and for Salt Lake County, granting a divorce to the respondent, and a division of property and Decree of certain payments of money to appellant, and to the awarding of alimony, and from the Findings and Conclusions upon which said Decree was based, and from the denial of the Motion for a New Trial on behalf of the appellant and the refusal to appoint a Guardian Ad Litem.

This action was commenced by the filing of a Complaint by respondent. (Tr. 2) The appellant Answered and Cross-Complained and the respondent Replied.

The evidence at the trial before Judge Ray Van Cott, Jr. is fully set out in the transcript. The record of Insane Register, No. 6088, in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, was introduced. (Tr. 25-28) It had previously been introduced into the record on a hearing of an Order to Show Cause before J. Allen Crockett, one of the Judges of the above entitled Court. The record will show that the plaintiff (respondent here) had sworn to an affidavit on June 11, 1949, in the matter, No. 6088, charging the defendant with being insane. That thereafter, the said defendant was committed for thirty days observation period, by Judge A. H. Ellett, one of the Judges of the above entitled Court, on June 21, 1949, to the State Hospital at Provo, Utah. That the commitment was based upon the findings and certificate of Doctors R. H. Darke, M.D. and V. M. Sevy, M.D., appointed by the Court to examine said defendant. The doctors found that the patient's departure from normal was so far deranged as to endanger health, person or property. Thereafter, Owen P. Heninger, M.D., Superintendent of the Utah State Hospital, wrote a letter dated March 23, 1950, in which he stated that the patient, who was committed on a thirty day observation basis had been studied and found to be without psychosis, and that she was therefore released. Thereafter, an Order was made by Judge

A. H. Ellett, restoring said patient to competency. Said Order was dated March 28, 1950. Plaintiff's divorce action was commenced January 19, 1950.

That the trial of the divorce action referred to was commenced on January 10, 1951, and was taken under advisement and Decree rendered January 24, 1951. Thereafter, Motion for a New Trial was filed in the matter and was brought upon February 5, 1951 for hearing and was denied February 7th.

That on January 15, 1951, Joseph G. MacDonald, the respondent here, filed an Affidavit before the Third District Court, alleging, among other things, that the appellant here was mentally incompetent to manage her property, by reason of habitual drunkenness, and that she is in need of assistance to properly manage and take care of her property; and because of the foregoing, said Vera Catherine MacDonald is likely to be deceived or imposed upon by artful or designing persons, if such assistance is not provided her. (Tr. 67) That said case is No. 33120.

That on February 2nd and 3rd, 1951, a hearing was had before the Honorable Joseph G. Jeppson, on said Petition, and thereafter, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree was made by said Court in which the Court found that the said Vera Catherine MacDonald was for long periods of time in a state of intoxication, and that said intoxication extends over a period of two or

three weeks, followed by periods of sobriety of four or five days, and that while in such state of intoxication, she tends to fail to attend to matters of grave importance to her and matters involving her property rights, and found that she was mentally incompetent by reason of habitual drunkenness, and entered a Decree appointing Walker Bank & Trust Company as guardian of the estate of said Vera Catherine MacDonald, because the said Vera Catherine MacDonald is mentally incompetent to manage her property. Said Decree is dated February 7, 1951.

That at the trial of the divorce action, the plaintiff (respondent here), in Case No. 88081, testified that the defendant, (appellant here) started drinking so that he began to notice it when they were living in Sacramento, California. That this drinking continued to get progressively worse; (Tr. 91) and that after the couple moved to Salt Lake City, Utah, the drinking continued, and that plaintiff (respondent here) had the defendant (appellant here) at a Sanatorium for treatment and had a Doctor treating her. (Tr. 65) That thereafter, her drinking continued in a more pronounced fashion until there was only a short period between such drinking. (Tr. 48) That thereafter, she was confined again to a Sanatorium, (Tr. 47) and that she attempted to cut her throat. (Tr. 48) This was in the year 1946. That later on, she was taken to the State Hospital at Provo, and on another occasion was taken to said hospital for treatment during the period from 1946 to 1950. (Tr. 65-66)

That during this period, on or about February 18, 1948, the plaintiff filed an action for divorce against the defendant in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, No. 82860, and in that action charged that the defendant was guilty of habitual drunkenness and intemperance, and for the past two years had been almost constantly under the influence of intoxicating liquor, and that she had become slovenly and careless in her personal habits and would not care for and maintain the home of the plaintiff. (Tr. 62-63) That this action was later dismissed (Tr. 63) (May 10, 1948) and the parties went back to living together at their home (Tr. 64) at 998 South 15th East Street, Salt Lake City, Utah. (Tr. 68-69) That the defendant did not drink when they were first married, (Tr. 41) and that at the time of the marriage she was approximately 30 years of age and the respondent was approximately 28 years of age. That at the time the action for divorce commenced in April, 1950, the plaintiff (Tr. 45) was 54 years of age and the defendant was 59 years of age. (Tr. 104) That the appellant drank Sherry Wine, and in the last year and one-half, the periods between sobriety were only a few days at a time. (Tr. 48)

That the plaintiff testified that he was of the opinion that a guardian should be appointed for her to protect her property. (Tr. 110)

He further testified, that in the winter of 1949, (Tr. 51), he left the home of plaintiff and defendant and went to live in an apartment, and while living in the

apartment, and another apartment to which he later moved, he knew a woman who used to visit him at said apartments, and he used to visit her at her apartment. (Tr. 101) That this had been going on for about a year, and that the plaintiff had given a gift to the said woman, although the plaintiff testified the relationship was merely companionable. (Tr. 103)

That although ordered to pay the monthly payments due on a mortgage on the home of plaintiff and defendant, held by First Security Trust Company, Salt Lake City, Utah, the plaintiff had not done so, and that on or about September 8, 1950, the defendant was required to pay the sum of \$378.95 (Tr. 61-62) to the said Trust Company so that the mortgage would not be foreclosed. That that money had not been repaid at the time of the trial, although on an Order to Show Cause, before Judge J. Allen Crockett, respondent had been ordered to pay said monthly payments, besides paying the amounts unpaid on \$125.00 per month alimony previously awarded on an Order to Show Cause. (Tr. 92)

That the Order to Show Cause referred to, was made before Judge A. H. Ellett, one of the Judges of the above entitled Court on May 20, 1950.

That the plaintiff further testified that there was some of the money of defendant, which she had when they were married, which went into the first house that was purchased by plaintiff and defendant, and the proceeds

of which were used to purchase the present home at 998 South 15th East Street, Salt Lake City, Utah. That this sum was of approximately \$300.00. (Tr. 77, 99)

That the plaintiff was earning approximately \$481.80 per month (Tr. 52) as a General Agent of the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul and Pacific Railroad Company. Besides his salary, he is allowed certain expenses for the use of his car and for reimbursement of personal expenses.

That the house of plaintiff and defendant at 998 South 15th East Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, is mortgaged to the First Security Bank of Utah, Exchange Branch, and the balance owing was \$6,001.00. (Tr. 53) That the reasonable value of the property was \$13,500.00. (Tr. 53) That the defendant had on deposit with Walker Bank & Trust Company, the sum of \$6,947.25 (Pl. Ex. 1) which she had received as her share of the sale of a farm. (Tr. 55)

That the defendant did not appear at the trial and that a recess was called while plaintiff's attorneys and defendant's attorney went to her home to see why she wasn't there, but she did not come to the trial and the Court was informed as to the reasons for that. (Tr. 35-36)

That the plaintiff and defendant were intermarried, each to the other, June 15, 1922. (Tr. 45) That 4 children were born as issue of said marriage, 3 of which died in infancy, but that one, a daughter, is now living, and is 25 years of age.

That at the outset of the trial, the defendant asked for a guardian ad litem to be appointed for the defendant, based on the record before the Court, and after the testimony of the plaintiff, (Tr. 31) the Motion for an Appointment of a Guardian Ad Litem was renewed. (Tr. 37-41-42) These motions were denied. That thereafter, the matter was taken under advisement and on January 24, 1951, the Court rendered its decision.

That when plaintiff and defendant were intermarried, defendant was not trained to support herself, but was a woman of culture and came from a good family and had lived well and had a good background. (Tr. 77, 75)

STATEMENT OF POINTS

The Complaint did not state a claim upon which relief could be granted to the plaintiff and the Motion to Dismiss should have been granted.

That the Motion to Dismiss should have been granted, because the Complaint was not verified.

That the Motion to Make More Definite and Certain should have been granted so that the defendant could ascertain whether plaintiff was proceeding under a charge of cruelty or cruelty and habitual drunkenness or habitual drunkenness.

The evidence is insufficient to support the findings of the Court in this: That Finding Number Two is contrary to the facts and contrary to law.

That Finding Number Three is contrary to the facts and the evidence and contrary to law.

Finding Number Four is contrary to law and is contrary to the evidence.

Finding Number Eight is contrary to the law and contrary to the evidence; and that the evidence is insufficient to support said findings.

That the Findings and Conclusions are insufficient to support the judgment and are contrary to the allegations of the Complaint. That there is no finding on the issue of cruelty.

That the Court improperly refused to appoint a guardian ad litem for defendant although motion was made before trial and after the evidence of the plaintiff.

Appellant's Motion for a New Trial should have been granted.

Defendant should have been awarded sufficient alimony to support herself and should not have to wait before she was in danger of becoming a public charge before the plaintiff should be obliged to support her.

That the nominal alimony, in the sum of \$10.00 per year, was not fair and reasonable and was an abuse of discretion by the Court, and said finding is not supported by the evidence.

That the finding, that the amount of money she had, together with other sums awarded her, would keep her

for ten years, is not supported by the evidence and is contrary to known facts of which the Court can take Judicial notice.

ARGUMENT

I.

SINCE THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WAS NOT VERIFIED, APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED.

POINT I. (A) ALTHOUGH RULE 11 UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE PROVIDES THAT COMPLAINTS IN DIVORCE ACTION NEED NOT BE VERIFIED, SECTION 40-3-4, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1943, PROVIDES THAT SUCH COMPLAINTS MUST BE VERIFIED.

It will be noted that this Section does not fall under the Rules of Civil Procedure which are generally found under title 104, but is placed under the title relating to husband and wife and divorce. The Code Section was enacted by the Legislature and appears to be substantive. (Tr. 4) Can the Legislature delegate to another coordinate arm of the Government, the power to repeal legislation? I think not. This Chapter 33 Laws of Utah 43 (Section 20-2-4.10 Utah Code Annotated, 1943) attempts to do this and the delegation to the Supreme Court is an unconstitutional exercise of the legislative power and in violation of Article V, Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah, Article VI, Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah, and Article VIII, Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah. This matter is discussed in a number of cases in the State of Utah. The leading cases on the subject being:

Young v. Salt Lake City, 24 Utah 321, 67 P. 1066;

Mulcahy v. Public Service Commission, 101 Utah 245, 117 P. 2d 298;

Revne v. Trade Commission, 192 P. 2d 563;

Western Leather & Finding Company v. State Tax Commission, 87 Utah 227, 48 P. 2d 526;

Tite v. State Tax Commission, 89 Utah 404, 57 P. 2d 734;

Whitmore v. Hardin, 3 Utah 121, 1 P. 465;

State v. Goss, 79 Utah⁵⁵⁷, 11 P. 2d 340.

Special attention is called to the case of *State v. Goss*, supra. The Supreme Court was, by said Chapter 33, given the power to prescribe the forms of pleadings, among other things, but to change the statute law is to do more than prescribe a form of a pleading, and a discussion of the delegation of power may be found in the following cases:

Rowell v. State Board of Agriculture, 98 Utah 353, 99 P. 2d 1;

In re: Handleys Estate, 15 Utah 212, 49 P. 829, 62 American State Reports 926, 151 U.S. 443, 38 L. Ed. 227.

POINT 2. (B) THE MOTION TO DISMISS SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED. THE MOTION TO MAKE MORE DEFINITE AND CERTAIN SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED.

The finding and conclusion of the Court indicates the difficulty which must be met by a defendant where the

plaintiff is not required to set out more definitely, (Tr. 97) under a general charge of cruelty, the cruelty upon which the charge is based. In this case, the Court did not find on the charge of cruelty and made findings on drunkenness. The defendant could draw only the conclusion that the charge was cruelty and based upon drunkenness. (Tr. 3) But the finding was contrary to this and the motion should have been granted, so that defendant would have been able to properly be apprised of the Complaint with which she should have to meet.

POINT 3. (C) THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE FINDING NUMBER TWO AND IT IS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND CONTRARY TO THE LAW.

This point requires a reference to the file, the record and the transcript.

At the commencement of the trial, defendant made a motion for a guardian ad litem, but defendant did not appear at the trial, and the Court allowed a recess so that counsel on both sides could go to the home of plaintiff and defendant to see why defendant did not appear. (Tr. 34) The Court had before it the report of counsel on that matter. The Court also had before it the file of the Insane Register, entitled: Vera Catherine MacDonald, No. 6088, in the Third Judicial District Court of the State of Utah, in and for the County of Salt Lake. That record was introduced in the case and had been in the case since the hearing before the Honorable J. Allen Crockett, one of the Judges of the above entitled Court on his Order to Show Cause on October 2, 1950. That

record showed that the plaintiff had sworn to an affidavit on June 11, 1949, charging the defendant with being insane. (Tr. 66-67-68) That thereafter, the said defendant was committed for thirty days observation to the Utah State Hospital by Judge A. H. Ellett, one of the Judges of the above entitled Court on June 21, 1949. That said committment was based on the Certificate of Dr. R. H. Darke, and Dr. V. M. Sevy, appointed by the Court to examine said defendant. That that Certificate is before this Court and the findings of the Doctors are before this Court. That the Certificate of the said doctors is to the affect that the departure of the patient from normal is so far deranged as to endanger her health, person and property. And the Court will observe that the doctors found that she was psychotic. Now, it is true, and was stipulated that if Dr. Darke was called, that he would say that she was not psychotic, (Tr. 110) but this is no contradiction of his Certificate and the Certificate of Dr. V. M. Sevy is uncontradicted. True, after the defendant was committed as insane on June 21, 1949, Dr. Owen P. Heninger, Superintendent of Utah State Hospital wrote a letter, dated March 23, 1950, stating that the defendant, who was committed on the thirty day observation basis was studied, and that she was found to be without psychosis and she was therefore released. In the first place, this is not a Certificate of the Superintendent.

See Section 85-7-11 Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as amended by Chapter 121 Laws of Utah, 1945.

This was not a Certificate stating that the patient had recovered her reason, nor does said letter fall within the provisions of Section 85-7-17 as amended by Chapter 121 Laws of Utah, 1945. In any event, there is no record showing that the Judge entered an Order restoring the patient to competency until after the divorce action was filed, nor did the Superintendent report as to whether the patient should be discharged to the care of a guardian, relatives or friends. Or, that she was harmless. Or, could be properly cared for by them. In any event, no order was made at all until after the commencement of the suit by the plaintiff against the defendant. The evidence showed also that the plaintiff in this action had previously commenced an action, No. 82860, before the District Court of the Third Judicial District of the State of Utah, in and for the County of Salt Lake, on or about February 18, 1948. In that action, the plaintiff charged the defendant was guilty of habitual drunkenness, and for the past two years had been almost constantly under the influence of intoxicating liquor. That she had become slovenly and careless in her personal habits and would not care for and maintain the home of plaintiff. That this action was later dismissed and the parties went back to living together at their home at 998 South 15th East Street, Salt Lake City, Utah. (Tr. 68-70-72)

That on or about January 16, 1951, in the Matter of the Estate of Vera Catherine MacDonald, Incompetent, No. 33120, before the District Court of the Third Judicial District of the State of Utah, plaintiff, Joseph G. Mac-

Donald swore that the said Vera Catherine MacDonald was mentally incompetent to manage her property by reason of habitual drunkenness and that she was likely to be deceived by artful or designing persons, and upon a hearing of said Petition on February 2nd and 3rd, 1951, the Honorable Joseph G. Jeppson, one of the Judges of the said District Court, found that Vera Catherine MacDonald is a habitual user of alcohol; that she is for long periods of time in a state of intoxication; that said intoxication extends over a period of two or three weeks followed by periods of sobriety of four or five days; that Vera Catherine MacDonald while in such a state of intoxication fails to properly attend to matters of great importance to her and matters involving her property rights; and, as a result, the Court Decreed that Vera Catherine MacDonald is mentally incompetent to manage her property, and that Walker Bank & Trust Company be and is hereby appointed guardian of the estate of said Vera Catherine MacDonald.

That the testimony of the plaintiff shows that the defendant started drinking so that he began to notice it, when they were living in Sacramento, California. That this drinking continued to get progressively worse; and that after the couple moved to Salt Lake City, and while they were living at the Piccardy Apartments, the said plaintiff had the defendant at the Mountain View Sanatorium for treatment and had a doctor treat her. (Tr. 66) But her drinking continued to get more pronounced, until there was only a period of ten days or a week be-

tween completely drunken stupors. (Tr. 48) That she was again taken to the Mountain View Sanatorium in 1946. That later on she was taken to the State Hospital at Provo, Utah, and on another occasion was taken to said hospital for treatment during the period from 1946 to 1950. The plaintiff further testified that the defendant drank to such an excess that the periods of sobriety for some time before the trial, were less than three days between intoxication. The plaintiff further testified that he was of the opinion that a guardian should be appointed to protect defendant's property.

POINT 4. (D) FINDING NUMBER THREE IS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND EVIDENCE AND CONTRARY TO LAW.

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