1951

Joseph Gerald Macdonald v. Vera Catherine Macdonald : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Counsel for the Respondent answers the points and arguments of Appellant in a slightly different order than as presented in appellant's brief. Respondent proceeds upon the premise that those points set forth in the index to Appellant's brief which are not argued, are abandoned, but all points argued by Appellant are answered herein.

POINT 1. DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND MOTION TO MAKE MORE DEFINITE AND CERTAIN WERE PROPERLY DENIED. (Appellant's Arguments (A) and (B).)

(a) The Complaint need not have been verified. The Rule 11 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in part:

“Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule, pleadings need not be verified or accompanied by affidavit.”

This rule was adopted by the Supreme Court in conformity with the provisions of 20-2-4.10 U. C. A. 1943, which is not a delegation of legislative power, but an acknowledgment by the State Legislature of the inherent authority of the courts to control matters of procedure by court rule. This statute provides that upon the adoption of appropriate rules of procedure, all statutes in conflict therewith shall be of no further force and effect. Appellant's cases on the unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority to another branch

of the state government are not in point. If the Supreme Court, by rule, had attempted to enumerate the grounds for divorce, substantive rights of litigants would have been affected, but the rule deals only with the form of the pleading asserting such a cause of action.

There can be no doubt that Rule 11, as adopted, was intended to reach the provisions of 40-3-4. The court is asked to consider the Federal Rule, from which has been deleted the words "or statute" which follow the phrase "Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule" By leaving out the exception and the reference to specific statutes requiring pleadings to be verified, the Supreme Court has obviously intended that the only exceptions be those set forth in the rules.

In any event, the lack of a verified complaint is not jurisdictional and can be waived. See *Patterson v. Patterson*, 190 Pacific 2d 887, 164 Kan. 501. A motion to dismiss based upon the ground that the complaint fails to state a cause of action does not raise the point (R 4). Further, Appellant's Answer, Cross-Complaint and Counterclaim are not verified (R 5-8), and this cause proceeded to judgment without this matter having been previously presented and argued.

(b) The statement of grounds for divorce was sufficient and was definite and certain.

Paragraph 4 of Respondent's Complaint sets forth two grounds for divorce. They are cruelty causing

great mental distress and habitual drunkenness (R 1). Upon the trial of the cause he abandoned the ground of cruelty, he presented no evidence upon this ground except as it was pertinent to the ground of habitual drunkenness, and no findings were made on cruelty (R 10), nor was the decree of divorce based upon such a ground.

The grounds for divorce as set forth in 40-3-1, subsections 5 and 7, which are habitual drunkenness of the defendant, and cruel treatment of the plaintiff by the defendant, are equally brief. Respondent has certainly pleaded his grounds for divorce with as much certainty and definiteness as required by the Complaint set forth in Form 18 of the Appendix of Forms, U. R. C. P. It is to be noted that these forms are approved as sufficient under the provisions of Rule 84.

Appellant states that she was not properly apprised of the complaint which "she should have to meet." In this regard the Federal Courts in construing their Rule 12, have uniformly held that a motion for a more definite statement should only be granted when the information sought is necessary to frame a responsive pleading and is not for the purpose of preparing for trial. See *Federal Practice and Procedure*, by Barron and Holtzoff, section 362. Any further particulars which defendant may need in order to prepare for trial should be obtained by depositions, interrogatories, and other discovery procedure. See state cases cited on page 687 of volume one of the above work. Nearly a year expired

between the filing of the complaint and the trial of this cause (R 1, 24) in which time such information could have been obtained.

POINT 2. THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE IN CONFORMITY WITH THE EVIDENCE AND ARE SUPPORTED IN LAW. PLAINTIFF WAS PROPERLY AWARDED A DIVORCE; THE AWARDS OF PROPERTY AND OF ALIMONY ARE PROPER. (Appellant's Arguments (D , (F) and (H).)

The evidence in this case clearly reveals the tragedy that occurs when a person becomes a chronic alcoholic. It also reveals the great patience and consideration with which the defendant met the daily difficulties of making a home with defendant. Since 1941 the defendant had been drinking excessively (R 46). Plaintiff sought expert medical help to meet this problem. He sought the help of his church (R 46-95). He placed the defendant in a private sanitarium on two occasions and when defendant appeared to be about to injure herself she entered the state mental hospital (R 47, 64), apparently voluntarily (See Insanity Record 6088, page 1). After seven years of defendant's excessive drinking, in February 1948, plaintiff filed for a divorce, but even then only after asking for the advice and help of his priest (R 50, 113). Plaintiff reconsidered, dismissed his complaint and attempted to make a go of the marriage, but defendant's resumption of her drinking made this impossible (R 69, 70). Violence to his person and a period of particularly heavy drinking caused plaintiff

to doubt his wife's sanity. She was committed for a period of thirty days observation; during which period she was dehydrated and acted normally. But again on her return home she commenced her drinking. Plaintiff left the defendant in October, 1949, and yet attempted a last reconciliation in November 1949. During this entire period defendant's drinking became progressively worse and more impossible to deal with (R 48, 49, 95, 96).

No possible finding of fact other than habitual drunkenness on the part of defendant could have been made by the trial court. Clearly it is a confirmed habit satisfying the requirements of the statute. *Holm v. Holm*, 139 Pacific 937, 44 Utah 242.

Appellant argues that because plaintiff knew of defendant's drinking and lived with her after her confinement in a sanitarium and after his filing divorce action that he had forgiven her and condoned her chronic drunkenness and cannot now complain of it.

It is submitted that forgiveness or condonation are not made out on the facts of the case. Further, the dismissal of a prior divorce action followed by repeated misconduct of a defendant does not constitute condonation. *Mayo v. Mayo*, 43 Pacific 2d 535, 3 California 2d 51. Condonation is conditional upon exemplary future behavior. *Thum v. Thum*, 98 Pacific 2d 279, (Colo.), and the cases therein cited. Forgiveness, if this record

disclosed it, would not bar plaintiff from seeking relief where the defendant's misconduct is resumed, and the law permits the injured party to assert all the prior misconduct, as well as that occurring subsequent to the ineffective condonation. *Thum v. Thum*, supra; *Lassen v. Lassen*, 7 Pacific 2d 120, 134 Kan. 436; *Burt v. Burt*, 72 Pacific 2d 524, 48 Wyoming 19; *Arnold v. Arnold*, 174 Pacific 2d 674, 76 Cal. App. 2d 877.

Apparently neither of the parties had any considerable amount of property at the time of their marriage. The wife at that time was not employed and lived with her parents (R 77). She brought no property to the marriage (R 76, 77). The property accumulated by the parties was purchased from the earnings of plaintiff, with the exception of two or three hundred dollars the defendant contributed to the purchase of a home in Sacramento, California (R 77, 99) which occurred sometime in the 1930s.

As set forth in the foregoing statement of facts, the parties have as their joint property, \$13,500.00, less a \$6,000.00 mortgage, in a house; \$2,000.00 in furnishings; \$1400.00, less a lien of \$212.80, in a car. Plaintiff has no separate estate. Defendant has \$6948.25 on deposit and a substantial expectancy in her mother's estate.

The net value of the joint estate as found by the court is approximately \$10,200.00 (house, car, furnish-

ings). Of this amount, \$9,000.00 was awarded to the defendant and \$1200.00 to the plaintiff. Combined with her separate estate the defendant has \$16,000.00 in property and cash, approximately.

The plaintiff's net is the \$1200.00 in the car and his net worth is reduced by the amount of the debts he has accumulated during the period he was paying on the mortgage and the temporary alimony. In addition to this, defendant was awarded attorney's fees of \$250.00, although there was absolutely nothing in the record to show a need or inability of defendant to pay her own attorney. Defendant was further awarded a nominal alimony for the purpose of placing her future needs, if any arise, upon plaintiff (R 12-15).

The record discloses that defendant's health is not good but that she is in good health when not drinking (R 107). Counsel for appellant asserts in his brief that she is now in a hospital, but there is no such evidence before the trial court, and this court should refuse to consider this matter as the full extent of her disability and prospects of recovery cannot be ascertained. In any event, plaintiff concedes that the possibility of defendant becoming gainfully employed is slim if not non-existent and that the situation is, therefore, not materially changed.

Plaintiff is employed and earning \$481.00 gross per month, after deductions, \$387.56 per month (R 52).

He has expenses per month of meals \$90.00, rent \$59.00, utilities \$10.00 to \$12.00, clothes \$35.00 to \$40.00, miscellaneous amounts for cigarettes and liquor, etc. \$15.00 (R 83, 85) and in addition to this he must make car payments of \$53.10 (R 82) for he is required to have a car (R 52) and he has entertainment expenses for which he is not compensated (R 55, 58, 59. 83). As always there are amounts paid out which cannot readily be accounted for which will come out of plaintiff's earnings and there is the need for plaintiff to pay attorney's fees, the back alimony and the five months back mortgage payments. The effect of the temporary order for support money was to take all of plaintiff's savings and reduce him to the device of getting small loans to meet current expenses (R 88).

Appellant misstates the record when she asserts that upon retirement plaintiff will have no income. The evidence was that he will have an income of \$125.00 or \$126.00 per month (R 60) and that he could take other work at that time if it was not connected with a railroad (R 89). It does not follow that a future need of the defendant will not be met because of a decrease in plaintiff's earnings, although his earnings will undoubtedly decline.

A plain inference from the facts and an undoubted consideration of the trial court was the expense of the purchase of liquor by defendant for the years of her excessive drinking (R 89, 90). With plaintiff constantly

on the road it would have been impossible for him to refuse to give defendant control over some of the family funds and she had a joint checking account (R 46, 89).

The defendant was clearly at fault. It is her misconduct, continuing over many years. which has caused this marriage to fail. During the latter period of the marriage the defendant failed completely to perform her wifely duties around the parties' home. (R 96, 97). This court has held that whatever doubt there may be concerning a property settlement, "it ought to be resolved against the guilty party whose fault and wrongs and breaches of the marital relation destroyed the home and forced or brought about the separation. *Dahlberg v. Dahlberg*, 292 Pacific 214, 77 Utah 137.

Appellant contends that a guilty party may still be awarded alimony and cites the provisions of 40-3-5 as opposed to the provisions of 40-3-9, U. C. A. 1943. Respondent has no serious quarrel with the proposition that in a *proper* case such an award can be made. It would be well to consider the cases where the problem has come up. Appellant cites three: *Schuster v. Schuster*, 53 Pacific 2d 428, 58 Utah 257; *Woolley v. Woolley*, 195 Pacific 2nd 743, 113 Utah 391; *Greener v. Greener*, 212 Pacific 2nd 194, (Utah).

Greener v. Greener is not in point. No divorce was granted in this case and no alimony awarded. In *Schuster v. Schuster*, alimony in the fixed sum of \$1500.00 was

awarded to the plaintiff-wife who was also awarded the divorce. Obviously under the court decision, she was not at fault. In *Woolley v. Woolley*, the defendant-husband was awarded a divorce, the wife was given approximately one-third of the accumulated property and the trial court was ordered to retain jurisdiction so that the wife could realize her share of the increase in value, if any, of certain speculative mining interests awarded to the husband. This latter arrangement could be more accurately characterized as a property division with provisions for a future adjustment. It is hardly the payment of alimony as it is usually understood.

Taking the tests and manner of dividing the property in the *Woolley* case, and applying them here, a division of the net joint estate would result in defendant taking approximately \$3400.00 and the plaintiff \$6800.00. The plaintiff only received \$1200.00 and the defendant received \$9,000.00 under the decision in this case. Defendant, therefore, received a \$5600.00 advantage from the property division. At \$100.00 alimony per month it would be 56 months before she would have the equivalent; and this does not account for the earnings on the sum she now has the use of for this period. At \$75.00 per month it would be $74\frac{2}{3}$ months before she would receive the equivalent. Undoubtedly the trial court considered these matters before making the awards in this case.

Under no case or authority in this state is the de-

fendant entitled to a majority share of the accumulated property plus a substantial award of alimony. A fair division of the property would be as stated in the *Woolley* case, *supra*, at page 745, Pacific Reports:

“In determining generally what a wife is entitled to when a divorce decree has been granted to the husband, we have considered one-third as being a fair proposition.”

The difficulty of doing justice between litigants in a divorce suit as to the division of property and the awarding of alimony is undoubtedly one of the greatest problems to confront a court, trial or appellate. Each case must be considered on its own facts. *Dahlberg v. Dahlberg*, *supra*; *Allen v. Allen*, 165 Pacific 2d 872 at 875, 109 Utah 99, and the cases and texts therein cited. Elements to consider can be set forth, *Pinion v. Pinion*, 67 Pacific 2d 265, 92 Utah 255, but in the final analysis a solution is dependent upon the exercise of a sound judicial discretion. Though the rule may have once been otherwise, an appellate court will not substitute its judgment for the trial court, and unless there is a clear abuse of discretion, the lower court's decision will be affirmed, *Anderson v. Anderson*, 138 Pacific 2d 252, 104 Utah 104; *Allen v. Allen*, *supra*, and cases therein cited.

Appellant raises many arguments as to future contingencies which are highly speculative. The uncertainties, of the effect of a divorce decree upon the litigants, under future conditions are inherent in any divorce

action; and this is the reason modification under changed circumstances is permitted. Further, a court cannot consider separately any one factor, but must look at the whole of the case.

A careful consideration of the lower court's decision in this cause reveals that a lion's share of the joint property was awarded to defendant, although she might well have not been entitled to it; that this award was made in lieu of any substantial alimony payments; that the court considered this property, in addition to defendant's separate estate, should care for defendant for a considerable period of time as stated, approximately ten years.

Whether or not the finding of ten years is correct, the principle is the same, because the court further provided defendant with a nominal alimony to protect her in future circumstances. The plaintiff, on the other hand, who has not been at fault, is given a \$1200.00 asset, the car, has no further interest in the joint estate, is saddled with substantial debts, private and under the decree, and has only his salary left to him. This is what the plaintiff takes after contributing his all to the marriage through the twenty-nine years of its existence. It is submitted that the decree is more than fair to defendant.

The trial court having found the foregoing awards to be fair, just and equitable, it follows, of course, that

the Conclusions of Law and the Decree should be in conformity with said Findings, as they are (R 12-15).

POINT 3. DEFENDANT DID NOT PREVAIL ON HER DEFENSE, NOR ON HER CROSS-COMPLAINT FOR SEPARATE MAINTANCE OR DIVORCE. (Appellant's Argument (E) and (G).)

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